



Council of the
European Union

139885/EU XXVII. GP
Eingelangt am 05/05/23

Brussels, 2 May 2023
(OR. en)

7751/08
EXT 1

TRANS 91
COWEB 85
ALB 3
BIH 7
ELARG 22

PARTIAL DECLASSIFICATION

of document: 7751/08

dated: 9 April 2008

new status: Public

Subject: Recommendation from the Commission to the Council in order to authorise the Commission to open negotiations on behalf of the European Community with Albania, Bosnia & Herzegovina, Croatia, the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Montenegro and Serbia as well as **United Nations Interim Administration in Kosovo (UNMIK)**/Kosovo¹ on a treaty establishing a Transport Community

Delegations will find attached the partially declassified version of the above-mentioned document.

¹ Under the United Nations Security Council Resolution 1422/99.
Reservation: CY, EL, ES, MT, RO, SK.



COUNCIL OF
THE EUROPEAN UNION

Brussels, 9 April 2008

7751/08

RESTREINT UE

TRANS 91
COWEB 85
ALB 3
BIH 7
ELARG 22

NOTE

From :	Council General Secretariat
to :	Working Party on Land Transport
No. Cion prop. :	7559/08 RESTRICTED EU TRANS 85 COWEB 80 ALB 1 BIH 5 ELARG 18
Subject :	Recommendation from the Commission to the Council in order to authorise the Commission to open negotiations on behalf of the European Community with Albania, Bosnia & Herzegovina, Croatia, the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Montenegro and Serbia as well as United Nations Interim Administration in Kosovo (UNMIK)/Kosovo¹ on a treaty establishing a Transport Community

Delegations will find attached a draft Decision of the Council on above mentioned subject as elaborated on the basis of the text of the Recommendation of the Commission in the light of the Working Party of 1 April 2008.

Additions to the negotiation directives that are annexed to the Commission proposal are indicated in **bold** and where needed underlining (changes introduced in the Commission text already in bold) and deletions by ~~strikethrough~~.

General scrutiny reservation: all delegations and Commission

¹ Under the United Nations Security Council Resolution 1422/99.
Reservation: CY, EL, ES, MT, RO, SK.

DRAFT
COUNCIL DECISION

to authorise the Commission to open negotiations on behalf of the European Community with Albania, Bosnia & Herzegovina, Croatia, the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Montenegro and Serbia as well as **UNMIK/Kosovo**² on a treaty establishing a Transport Community.

THE COUNCIL OF THE EUROPEAN UNION,

Having regard to the Treaty establishing the European Community, in particular article 300, paragraph 1 thereof,

Having regard to the Recommendation of the Commission³,

HAS DECIDED AS FOLLOWS:

Article 1

The Commission is hereby authorised to open negotiations with Albania, Bosnia & Herzegovina, Croatia, the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Montenegro and Serbia as well as **UNMIK/Kosovo** on a treaty establishing a Transport Community.

Article 2

The Commission shall conduct these negotiations on behalf of the European Community in consultation with a special committee appointed by the Council to assist it in its task and shall keep the Council regularly informed on the progress of the negotiations.

² Under the United Nations Security Council Resolution 1422/99.
Reservation: CY, EL, ES, MT, RO, SK.

³ Document 7559/08 RESTRICTED EU

Article 3

The Commission shall conduct the negotiations in accordance with the appended negotiating directives (ANNEX I).

Done at Brussels, [...]

For the Council of the European Union,
The President

NEGOTIATING DIRECTIVES FOR A TREATY ESTABLISHING A TRANSPORT
COMMUNITY BETWEEN THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITY AND ALBANIA, BOSNIA &
HERZEGOVINA, CROATIA, THE FORMER YUGOSLAV REPUBLIC OF MACEDONIA,
MONTENEGRO AND SERBIA AS WELL AS UNMIK/KOSOVO

1. Negotiating objectives

The agreement is based on the Community *acquis* on transport as regards infrastructure development, market opening, technical interoperability, safety, security, environment and social legislation. **The Transport Community should contribute to develop a safe, efficient and sustainable transport. Fair competition within a mode and between the modes of transport should be ensured by full implementation and practical application of all relevant parts of the acquis⁴.**

2. Negotiating parties

The negotiating parties will be on one side the Commission on behalf of the European Community and on the other side Albania, Bosnia & Herzegovina, Croatia, the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia, Montenegro and Serbia as well as **UNMIK/Kosovo**.

3. Scope of the Agreement

The obligation of the Treaty will be without prejudice to the obligations derived from existing multilateral agreements, including WTO agreements.

⁴ AT suggests to add the following sentence: The transport community shall contribute to develop safe, efficient and sustainable transport - also with regards to the intention to establish "green corridors". Furthermore, any negative effects in the field of competition - regarding the competition within the mode and between the modes of transport shall be prevented by full implementation and practical application of all relevant parts of the *acquis*.

INFRASTRUCTURE

Based on the Memorandum of Understanding on the development of the South East Europe Core Regional Transport Network (MoU), the provisions on transport infrastructure in the treaty ~~will~~ **should** include rules on:

- The reference network on which the provisions of the agreement will be applicable.
- The reference network in the framework of negotiation on the future TEN-T.
- Further development of the South East Europe Core Transport Network as defined in the MoU (see annex 1), according to the Community Guidelines on the Development of the Trans-European Transport Network (TEN-T)⁵; **including the development of key links and interconnections needed to eliminate bottlenecks and to promote the interconnection of national networks.**
- An information system to be used by decision makers in reviewing and monitoring the condition⁶ and performance of the South East Europe Core Regional Transport Network.
- A platform for efficient donor coordination and use of funds provided by public and private sources.
- The process to develop a 5-year rolling work plan for the development of the network and the identification of priority projects of regional interest, in line with best international practice, which would contribute to balanced sustainable development in terms of economic, environmental and social impacts.
- Taking into account ~~where relevant~~ the environmental *acquis* **with regard to transport**, in particular the Strategic Impact Assessment, Environmental Impact Assessment, nature-related and air quality-related directives.

⁵ OJ L 167, 30.4.2004.

⁶ For 2006, the results of the condition analysis for roads are that 3% of Corridors and 27% of Routes are classified as poor or very poor. 46% of roads have been classified as being in good condition. In contrast, only 7% of the rail network is classified as being in good condition (and 28% in poor condition). Regarding waterways, with the exception of about 30 km of substandard depth, the Danube is mostly to EU standard depth of 2.5 m. The condition of 4 (out of 7) seaports is considered good.

- The continuation of the development of the approximation with the procurement *acquis* according to the existing Stabilisation and Association Process and/or Interim Agreement within the Enlargement or Stabilisation and Association Process.
- Development of efficient traffic management systems at regional level ensuring cost effectiveness and high quality.
- Efficient regional development of Air Traffic Management infrastructure in line with the Single European Sky and SESAR.

TRANSPORT MODES

Railway transport

The provisions on rail transport in the treaty ~~will~~ **should** include rules on:

- Effective, independent and competent regulatory institutions, including, among others, regulatory body, licensing body, national safety authority.
- Separation of infrastructure management and provision of transport services.
- Independence of infrastructure management and of railway undertakings.
- Due compensation of public service obligations in rail passenger transport and rail infrastructure management.
- **The objective of improving the financial situation of railways undertaking by**
rReducing historic debts to a level which does not endanger the economic viability of infrastructure managers and railway undertakings succeeding to the incumbent state railways.
- **On the basis of the Community acquis in railway legislation**, stepwise opening of access to the market regarding the provision of transport services.
- Technical and operational harmonisation, including technical specifications on interoperability, and the cross-acceptance of rolling stock.
- Safety, in particular the conditions related to safety certificates for railway undertakings and train driver licenses.
- Social rules, in particular on the working conditions of mobile workers engaged in interoperable cross-border services.
- Transport of dangerous goods.

Road transport

The provisions on road transport in the treaty ~~will~~ **should** include rules on:

- Access to the occupation and access to the market in road transport, based on good repute, financial standing and professional competence for undertakings with stable and effective establishment.
- **NOT DECLASSIFIED** ⁷
- Transparent charges for the use of road infrastructure, where such charges are levied.
- Driver licensing and driver training.
- Social rules, in particular driving time and rest periods for professional drivers, including the digital tachograph and working time rules.
- Technical requirements for road vehicles regarding weights and dimensions, roadworthiness testing and speed limitation devices.
- Transport of dangerous goods.
- Enforcement of rules related to driving time and rest periods, the use of the digital tachograph, roadworthiness testing and transport of dangerous goods by road, including roadside checks.
- Minimum annual vehicle taxes and minimum excise duty.

Waterborne Transport⁸

Motorways of the Sea and Short Sea Shipping

The provisions on Motorways of the Sea and Short Sea Shipping in the treaty ~~will~~ **should** include rules on:

- Establishment of new links with EU countries.
- Enlargement of maritime linkages of Western Balkan countries with third countries in the South Mediterranean and Black Sea so that the Western Balkans region can better benefit from the key worldwide maritime routes.

⁷ **NOT DECLASSIFIED**

⁸ Scrutiny reservation: IT

The provisions on maritime safety and security in the treaty ~~will~~ **should** include rules on:

- Alignment of maritime safety policies.
- Promotion of and support for the implementation of relevant IMO⁹ Conventions and relevant resolutions of IMO's Maritime Safety Committee and Maritime Environment Protection Committee.
- Effective enhancement of ships and port facilities security in application of the IMO instruments in particular to SOLAS Convention Chapter XI-2 and the ISPS Code and in accordance with the EC standards.
- Effective enforcement of maritime safety measures in the areas of Port State Control and Flag State as applicable.

Inland waterway transport

The provisions on inland waterway transport in the treaty ~~will~~ **should** include rules to *complement* those established under the Conventions for navigation on the Danube and the Sava River, in the following areas:

- Stepwise opening of the access to the occupation and access to the market on inland waterway transport services, to complement the market rules established under the Belgrade Convention.
- Harmonisation of technical requirements and recognition of safety certificates, including boat master certificates, essential for the uninterrupted safety of navigation on the River Danube between EU Member States and third countries.
- Harmonised River Information Services (RIS) on all relevant waterways in the scope of application of the treaty.
- Social rules, in particular on the organisation of working time.¹⁰
- Transport of dangerous goods.

⁹ International Maritime Organisation.

¹⁰ NL requests clarification as to Community working time rules in inland waterway transport.

The provisions on port policy in the treaty ~~will~~ **should** include rules on:

- A transparent regulatory framework for public support to maritime ports infrastructure, and nautical and handling services providers in order to attract private investments to meet traffic demand.
- Mitigating environmental impacts of operations in ports as vital nodes of transport and industrial areas for the benefit of citizens' quality of life and natural heritage around ports.
- Enhancement of port security as applicable beyond the ship/port interface in accordance to the EC standards and the relevant joint IMO/ILO code of practice.

BORDER CROSSING FACILITATION

Taking into consideration the need for balancing the supply chain security and border crossing facilitation, the treaty ~~will~~ **should** include rules on:

- Border crossing facilitation actions that aim to improve the functioning of the core regional transport network in order to increase the fluidity of the transport flows **in the Western Balkan Region** ~~between the Western Balkan countries themselves and between the Region and the EU.~~
- **Promotion** ~~Introduction~~ of “one-stop” offices through shared facilities.
- Simplification and harmonisation of trade and transport related documentation in line with the EU practice.
- Promotion of and support for the implementation of the relevant international Conventions and agreements as well as effective enforcement thereof.

INSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

Based upon and integrating the existing structures created in the Memorandum of Understanding on the development of the South East Europe Core Regional Transport Network, it is envisaged to organise the treaty along the following elements:

- **A Ministerial Council**, ~~which establishes its rules of procedure~~, to take strategic decisions regarding the agreement and its further development. It ~~is will~~ **should meet every two years or as necessary** ~~assisted by Committees~~.

- **A Regional Steering Committee** to ~~follow~~ **monitor** the **timely and coordinated** implementation of the **Transport Community Core** ~~Regional Transport Network and all relevant measures at technical level~~. The ~~Regional Steering e~~Committee ~~will~~ **should** also organise Donors' Conferences and involve ~~social partners and other~~ stakeholders when relevant. The Regional Committee shall make recommendations and take decisions, which the contracting parties shall put into effect.

- **Joint Technical Committees**, reporting to and supporting the work of the Regional **Steering** Committee, responsible for the proper implementation of the agreement for each transport mode. A specific ~~Joint Technical~~ Committee for environment **and a Social Forum** will **also** be set up to ensure **proper implementation of the transport related environmental and social *acquis***. ~~that infrastructure development complies with the relevant environmental-related *acquis*~~. Each ~~Joint Technical~~ Committee will ~~in particular~~ act as the appeal body in the framework of the dispute settlement provisions.

- ~~A Social Forum to consider the social impacts of the transport market reform.~~

- **A permanent Secretariat** ~~will~~ **should** also be set up to provide administrative and technical support to the Ministerial Council, to the Committees and the Social Forum. Financial contributions from the participants are envisaged to underpin commitment and ownership towards the objectives of the treaty.

Each party to the Treaty will be represented in the different bodies. The representation of the European Community should be organised at an appropriate level according to normal Community procedures and practices.

MANAGEMENT OF THE AGREEMENT

Each Party ~~will~~ **shall** be responsible for enforcement of the provisions of the treaty ~~on its territory and with regard to its national transport operators~~ **within the framework of its competencies**.

The agreement should provide for an appropriate dispute settlement mechanism and safeguard measures, analogous to those contained in the European Common Aviation Agreement.

The possibility for accession to this treaty of other interested countries with particular contractual relations with the EC ~~will~~ **should** be foreseen.

CONDUCT OF THE NEGOTIATIONS

~~The Commission shall be assisted, during the negotiations, by a Special Committee designated by the Council. The Commission will regularly inform the Council on the progress of the negotiations.~~

~~The Commission shall report to the Council on the outcome of the negotiations and, where appropriate, on any problem that may arise during the negotiations.~~

~~The Commission shall provide early and clear information to the European Parliament during the conduct and conclusion of the negotiations~~

Map of the Core Network

as agreed in annex I of the Memorandum of Understanding of the Development
of the South East Europe Core Regional Transport Network of 11 J
